
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO. -------
18 u.s.c. § 371 
18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(l)(C) 

U ITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

COMUNICACIONES CELULARES S.A., 
d/b/a TIGO GUATEMALA, 

Defendant. 
I -----------------

INFORMATION 

The United States charges: 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

At all times relevant to this Informat ion, unless otherwise stated: 

Relevant Statutory Background 

I . The Fore ign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 ("FCPA"), as amended , Title 15 , United 

States Code, Sections 78dd- l , et seq., was enacted by Congress for the purpose of, among other 

things, making it unlawful for certain classes of persons and enti ties to act corruptly in fu rtherance 

of an offer, promise, authorization or payment of money or anyth ing of value, directly or indirectly, 

to a foreign govern ment official for the purpose of influencing the foreign official , inducing the 

foreign offic ial to take or omit certa in acts , and securing an improper advantage in order to assist 

those c lasses of persons and entit ies in obtai ning or retaining business fo r, or directing busi ness to, 

any person. 
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Relevant Entities and Individuals 

2. Millicom International Ce llular, S.A. ("Millicom") was an international 

telecommunications company incorporated and headquartered in Luxembourg. As of 2015, its 

principal place of business was in the Southern Di strict of Florida. Millicom was a "domestic 

concern" as that term is used in the FCPA, Title 15 , United States Code, Section 78dd-2(h)(l)(B). 

3. COMUNICACIONES CELULARES S.A., d/b/a TIGO GUATEMALA 

("TIGO Guatemala"), was a mobile and fixed telecommunications service provider with its 

principal place of business in Guatema la. During the relevant period , TIGO Guatemala was 

jointly owned by M illi com (55%) and a Panamanian company ("Panama Company" (45 %)), the 

identity of whi ch is known to the United States and TIGO Guatemala. On or about November 

12, 202 1, Millicom purchased Panama Company's share of TIGO Guatemala for approximately 

$2.2 billion. Since then, TIGO Guatemala has been who ll y-owned by Millicom. TIGO 

Guatemala was a "person" as that term is defined in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, 

Section 78dd-3(f)( l ) . 

4. "Shareholder 1," an individual whose identity is known to the United States and 

TIGO Guatemala , was a citizen of Guatemala. Shareholder 1 was the owner of Panama Company 

and exerci sed substantia l contro l over TIGO Guatemala until hi s interest was purchased by 

Millicom . Shareho lder 1 was a "director" and "stockholder" of TIGO Guatemala , as those terms 

are used in the FCPA, Title 15 , United States Code, Section 78dd-3(a). 

5. Ac isclo Valladares Urruel a ("Valladares") was a citizen of Guatema la and TIGO 

Guatemala's Chief Corporate Affairs Officer and Head of Legal in or around and between 2008 
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and 201 5 and aga in serv ing as Chief Corporate Affa irs Officer in or around 201 7. Vall adares was 

an "offi cer," "employee," and "agent" of TIGO Guatemala, as those terms are used in the FCPA, 

T itle 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-3(a). 

6. "TTGO Guatemala Executive I," an ind ividual whose ident ity is known to the 

United States and TIGO Guatemala , was a Guatemalan citizen and a hi gh-level TIGO 

Guatemala exec utive fro m in or aro und 2011 thro ugh in or around 2022 . T IGO Guatemala 

Executi ve l repo ried directl y to the T IGO Guatemala Board of Directors. TIGO Guatema la 

Executi ve 1 was an "officer," "employee," and "agent" of TIGO Guatemala , as those terms are 

used in the FCPA, T itl e 15, United States Code, Secti on 78dd-3(a). 

7. "Board Member I ," an indi v idual whose identi ty is kn own to the United States and 

TIGO Guatemala , was a United States citi zen, an executive of M illicom, and a TIGO Guatemala 

board mem ber fro m in or aro und 20 13 th rough in or around 201 5. Board Member I was a 

"domestic concern" and an "offi cer," "employee," and "agent" of a domesti c concern as those 

terms are used in the FCPA, Tit le 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-2(h)( l )(A), and "di rector" 

and "agent" of TIGO Guatemala , as those terms are used in the FCPA, T itl e 15, United States 

Code, Section 78dd -3(a) . 

8. Alvaro Estuardo Cobar Bustamante ("Cobar") was a Guatemalan citizen and 

di rector of a Guatemalan bank. 

9. "Guatemalan Consortium," the identity of whi ch is known to the Un ited States and 

TIGO Guatemala , was a group of compani es fo rm ed in Guatemala by Shareho lder I and 

contro lled by Shareho lder I . 
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Conspiracy to Violate the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act 
(18 U.S .C. § 37 1) 

10. From at least in or around 20 12, and continuing through in or around June 2018, in 

the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendant, 

COMMUNICACIONES CELULARES S.A. 
d/b/a TIGO GUATEMALA, 

did knowingly and willfully, that is, with the intent to further the object of the conspiracy, combine, 

conspire, confederate and agree with Shareho lder 1, Valladares, TIGO Guatemala Executi ve 1, 

Cobar, and others known and unknown to the United States, to commit an offense against the 

United States, that is, while in the territory of the United States, to corruptly make use of the mails 

and means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and to do any act in furtherance of an 

offer, payment, prom ise to pay, and authorization of the giving of anything of value to a foreign 

officia l and to a person, while knowing that all or a portion of such money and thing of value 

wou ld be and had been offered, given and promised to a foreign official , for purposes of: (i) 

influencing acts and decisions of such foreign official in hi s offici al capacity; (ii) inducing such 

foreign official to do and omit to do acts in violation of the lawful duty of such official ; (iii) 

securing any improper advantage; and (iv) inducing such foreign official to use hi s influence with 

a foreign government and agencies and instrumentalities thereof to affect and influence acts and 

dec isions of such government and agencies and instrumentalities, in order to assist the defendant, 

COMMUNICACIONES CELULARES S.A., d/b/a TIGO GUATEMALA, in obtaining and 

retaining business for and with , and directing business to the defendant, COMMUNICACIONES 
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CELULARES S.A., d/b/a TIGO GUATEMALA, and others, contrary to Title 15, United States 

Code, Section 78dd-3. 

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY 

11 . It was the purpose of the conspiracy for defendant TIGO Guatemala and its co-

conspirators to unj ustly enri ch themselves by, among other things, mak ing corrupt payments to 

Guatemalan offic ials, including members of the Guatemalan Congress, in order to secure improper 

advantages and to obtain and retain telecommunications business in Guatemala for TIGO 

Guatemala and its co-conspirators, including, among other benefits: (I) the passage of legis lation 

in 2012 that permitted TIGO Guatemala to renew its rad iofrequency usufruct titles- the right to 

use, possess, and benefit from the spectrum while the government maintained ownership- for a 

20-year term; and (2) the passage of legis lat ion in 20 14 that, among other things, permitted 

companies to obtai n all authorizations for the insta llment of te lecomm unications infrastructure, 

including ce llular towers, from the federa l government instead of from the local governments in 

the municipalities where each project was located, and that was freq uentl y referred to as "Ley 

TIGO" because it disproportionate ly benefitted TIGO Guatemala . 

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

The manner and means by wh ich TIGO Guatemala and its co-conspirators sought to 

accomplish the purpose of the conspiracy included, among others, the fo ll owing: 

12. Shareholder I, Tl GO Guatemala Executi ve I, Vall adares, and others caused TIGO 

Guatemala to make corrupt payments to Guatemalan offic ial s, including monthly cash payments 

to numerous Guatemalan members of Congress, using fu nds generated in at least fo ur ways: (1) 

cash from Shareholder I's other companies delivered to TIGO Guatemala via helicopter; (2) a 
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put-ca ll agreement between Millicom and Panama Company that included a $15 million execution 

fee to be paid by Millicom to Panama Company; (3) cash generated th rough inflated and backdated 

contracts, and fake invo ices, entered into between Valladares and entiti es contro lled by 

Shareholder 1; and (4) cash, including narcotraffi cking proceeds, from a banker who laundered 

money for narcotraffi ckers. 

13. Shareholder 1, TTGO Guatemala Executi ve 1, Va ll adares, and others transferred 

fu nds in fu rtherance of the scheme to and through U.S. bank accounts, includi ng transfers to 

Vall adares ' s personal bank account in the United States to fund bribe payments. 

14. Shareholder 1, TIGO Guatemala Executi ve 1, Valladares, and others met 111 

furtherance of the scheme in the Southern Distri ct of Florida and elsewhere. 

15. TIGO Guatemala, th rough Shareholder 1, Valladares, and others, utilized means 

and instrumentalit ies of interstate commerce, including the use of the wires, such as fu nd transfers, 

emai ls, and text messages . 

OVERT ACTS 

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accompli sh the purpose and object thereof, TIGO 

Guatemala and its co-conspirators committed, and caused to be committed, in the Southern 

District of Florida and elsewhere, at least one of the fo l lowing overt acts, among others: 

1. In or around mid-201 2, an employee of the Guatemalan Consortium deli vered cash 

by heli copter to Vall adares at the TIGO Guatemala office to prov ide cash fo r Vall adares to make 

bribe payments to Guatemalan offi cials. 

2. In or around late 20 13, Shareholder I to ld Board Member I and a Mil licom 

executive during a meeting in the Southern Di stri ct of Florida that he would use a po rtion of a $15 
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million fee that he demanded fro m Mi lli com in exchange for a put-ca ll agreement to pay bribes 

and to fund politica l campaigns in Guatemala. 

3. On or about January 1, 20 14, Millicom and Panama Company executed the put-call 

agreement, pursuant to which Millicom agreed to pay Panama Company a $ 15 million "execution 

fee ," which was a mechani sm to leg itimize a transfer of money from Mil li com to Panama 

Company, in order to repay Shareholder 1 fo r money he had personally fronted for bribe payments 

to Guatemalan government officials and to provide funds to make addit ional bribe payments. 

4. On or about May 28, 2014, a senior executive of the Guatemalan Consortium sent 

Valladares an emai l accounting for 27 cash deliveri es that the Guatemalan Consortium ' s senior 

executive had made to Vall adares and TIGO Guatemala Executive I to effectuate bribe payments 

to Guatemalan government offic ial s between June 20 12 and May 2014 in the amount of 

142,025 ,000 Quetzales (approx imately $ l 8.3 mill ion). 

5. In or around June 2014, TIGO Guatemala Executive 1 executed a significantly 

inflated contract on behalf of TIGO Guatemala with an entity associated with Shareholder 1 to 

generate a $12 million slush fund to pay bribes to Guatema lan government offic ials. 

6. On or about August 8, 20 14, Shareholder I caused a payment of approximate ly 

$600,000 to be wired to a bank account in the United States contro lled by Vall adares to reimburse 

Valladares for bribes he previous ly paid to Guatema lan government officials with personal funds 

on behalf of and for the benefit of TIGO Guatemala. 

7. Around the same time, in or around August or September 20 14, Valladares 

executed a series of backdated contracts between hi s Panamanian legal servi ces company and three 
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shell companies controll ed by Shareho lder I, which Valladares and Shareholder 1 backdated to 

May 30, 2013, to align with the time period of legal services previously provided by the 

Panamanian legal serv ices company to Shareholder I so as not to attract suspicion. 

8. On or about September 17, 20 14, Va ll adares caused the Panamanian legal services 

company to subm it an inflated invo ice fo r $2, 175,000 to a shell company controlled by 

Shareholder 1. 

9. On or about September 29, 20 14, Shareholder l caused a payment of approximately 

$2,175,000 to be wired from a shell company contro ll ed by Shareholder I to the Panamanian lega l 

services company account. These funds were derived from the $12 mil li on slush fund. 

I 0. On or about September 28, 2015 , while in the Southern District of Florida, 

Shareholder I informed a Mil licom sen ior executi ve that he helped TIGO Guatemala secure a 

financial advantage, which Shareholder I implied was obtained through bribery, and advised the 

Millicom senior executive that they needed to find a new fundin g mechanism because the put-ca ll 

agreement arrangement was no longer an option. 

11 . On or about December 28, 2017, Va ll adares caused the transfer of approximately 

$350,000 from his U.S. account to a bank account in the Southern District of Florida contro lled by 

Cobar. The transfer was part of a series of financ ial transactions to generate cash in Quetza les to 

pay bribes to Guatemalan officia ls on behalf of and for the benefit of TIGO Guatemala while, at 

the same time, ass isting a narcot ics trafficker transfer money from Guatemala to Colombia and 

Ecuador. 
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12. On or about September 5, 20 18, Cobar forwarded to Valladares (l) a screenshot 

depicting a ledger of cash deliveries Cobar provided to TIGO Guatemala between December 1, 

20 17, and June 6, 2018, and (2) a "key" that was necessary to interpret coded references to the 

bribe payments in the ledger. 

All in violat ion of Title 18, United States Code, Section 37 1. 

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
(l 8 U.S.C. § 981 (a)(l )(C)) 

1. The allegations co nta ined in this In format ion are hereby re-all eged and by this 

reference fully incorporated herein for the purpose of a ll eg ing forfeiture to the United States of 

America of certain property in which the defendant, TIGO Guatemala, has an interest. 

2. Upon conviction of a conspiracy to commit a vio lation of the FCPA, T itle 15 , 

United States Code, Section 78dd-3, as a lleged in this Informat ion , the defendant shall forfeit to 

the United States any property, real or personal, whi ch constitutes or is derived from proceeds 

traceable to such offense, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981 (a)( l )(C). 

3. lf any property subj ect to forfeiture , as a res ult of any act or om iss ion of the 

defendant: 

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

b. has been transferred or so ld to , or deposited with, a third party ; 

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the cou rt; 

d. has been substanti ally dimini shed in value; or 

e. has been comm ingled with other property wh ich cannot be subdivided 

w ithout difficulty ; 
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the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property under the provisions of Title 

21 , United States Code, Section 853(p). 

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(l)(C), and the procedures set 

forth in Title 21 , United States Code, Section 853 , as incorporated by Title 28, United States 

Code, Section 2461(c). 

~[ _ _ ~/SJ,l 
LORINDA I. LARYEA I 
ACTING CHIEF, FRAUD SECTION 
CRIMINAL DIVISION 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

~1~~~ ATALIER. KANYA I 
TRIAL ATTORNEY 
KA THERINE RAUT 
ASSIST ANT CHIEF 

~ €, 
= O ~ QlliNONES 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

EL . RUBIN 
ASSISTANT UNITED STA TES ATTORNEY 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA CASE NO.: -----------------

v. 

COMUN ICACIONES CELULARES S.A. 
d/b/a TJGO GUATEMALA, 

I 

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY 

Superseding Case Information: ------------------
Defendant. 

Court Division (select one) 
New Defendant(s) (Yes or No) __ 
N umber of New Defendants 

E] Miami D Key West □FTP Total number of new cou nts 
OFTL □ WPB 

l do hereby certify that: 
I . I have carefully considered the all egations of the Indictm ent, the number of defendants, the number of probable 

witnesses and the legal complexities of the Indi ctment/Informat ion attached hereto. 
2. I am aware that the info rmat ion supplied on thi s statement will be relied upon by the Judges of thi s Court in setting 

their calendars and schedu ling crim inal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act, 28 U.S.C. §3 l61. 

3. Interpreter: (Yes or No)_N_o __ 
List language and/or dialect: _______ _ 

4. Thi s case will take O days for the parties to try. 
5. Please check appropr iate category and type of offense listed be low: 

(Check only one) 

I El O to 5 days 
II D 6 to I O days 
III D 11 to 20 days 
IV D 21 to 60 days 
V D 61 days and over 

(Check only one) 

□ Petty 
OMinor 
D~isdemeanor 
0°Felony 

6. Has thi s case been previously fi led in thi s District Court? (Yes or No) No ---
If yes, Judge ____________ Case No. __________________ _ 

7. Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) :t!.Q__ 
If yes, Judge ____________ Magistrate Case No. ______________ _ 

8. Does this case re late to a previous ly filed matter in this District Co urt? (Yes or No)~ 
If yes, Judge ____________ Case No. __________________ _ 

9. Defendant(s) in federal custody as of _______________________ _ 
10. Defendant(s) in state custody as of _________________________ _ 
11. Rule 20 from the _____ District of ______ _ 
12. Is this a potenti al death penalty case? (Yes or No) I:iQ__ 
13. Does thi s case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Atto rney ' s Office 

prior to October 3, 201 9 (Mag. Judge Jared M. Strauss)? (Yes or No) No 
---

14. Did this matter in vo lve the participation of or consultation with Magistrate Judge Eduardo I. Sanchez 
during his tenure at the U.S. Attorney's Office, which concluded on January 22, 2023? N_ o __ 

15. Did this matter involve the participation of or consultation with Magistrate Judge Marty Fulgueira 
E lfenbein during her tenure at the U.S . Attorney's Office, which concluded on March 5, 2024? N_o __ 

16. Did thi s matter involve the participation of or co nsul tat ion with Magistrate Judge Ellen F. D ' A nge lo 

during her tenure at the U.S. Attorney's Offic~~whicilid o~ ober 7 2~ 

ELIS . RUBIN 
Ass istant Uni ted States Attorney 

SDFL Co urt ID No. A5503535 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

PENALTY SHEET 

Defendant's Name: COMUNICACIONES CELULARES S.A. d/b/a TIGO GUATEMALA 

Case No: --------------------------------

Count #: 1 

Conspiracy to Violate the Foreign Conupt Practices Act 

Title 18 United States Code Section 3 71 
*Max.Term oflmprisonment: NIA 
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/ A 
* Max. Supervised Release: N/ A 
* Max. Fine: $500,000 or twice the gross gain or gross loss 

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include 
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable. 
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U ITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO. _____ _ 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

COMUNICACIONES CELULARES S.A., 
d/b/a TIGO GUATEMALA, 

Defendant. 

--------------------"/ 

WAIVER OF INDICTMENT 

COMU ICACIONES CELULARES S.A., d/b/a TIGO GUATEMALA, the above-

named defendant, is charged in a one-count Information in this Court with conspiracy to commit 

an offense against the United States, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 , that is, to violate the anti­

bribery provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended ("FCPA"), 15 U .S.C. 

§ 78dd-3. Having been advised of the nature of the charge, the filed Information, and of its rights, 

through its below-authorized representative hereby waives prosecution by grand jury Indictment 

and consents that the case against it proceed by Information rather than by Indictment. 

Date: \0 /L~jUJLS 

Corporate Representative for Defendant 

Counsel for Defendant 

The Honorable 
United States District Court 
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